

# Citizenship, Virtue & the Neutral State: A Search for the Private Justification of Civic Virtue

Siegmann, Job

### Citation

Siegmann, J. (2025). Citizenship, Virtue & the Neutral State: A Search for the Private Justification of Civic Virtue.

Version: Not Applicable (or Unknown)

License: License to inclusion and publication of a Bachelor or Master Thesis,

2023

Downloaded from: <a href="https://hdl.handle.net/1887/4172733">https://hdl.handle.net/1887/4172733</a>

**Note:** To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).



# Citizenship, Virtue & the Neutral State

A Search for the Private Justification of Civic Virtue

**Author:** Job Siegmann (S3962366)

Supervisor: Dr. B.J.E. Verbeek

Second reader:

A thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the Leiden MA Philosophy, specialization Moral and Political Philosophy.

Date of submission: May 31st, 2024

"We may not acquire learning, nor do we see that every learned person is a servant of the country. All of us, however, can cultivate virtues like fearlessness, truthfulness, fortitude, justice, straightforwardness, firmness of purpose, and dedicate them to the service of the nation. This is the religious way. This is what the mahavakya, that political life should be spiritualized, means. He who follows this line will always know the path he should take."

- Gandhi

# **Declaration of Originality**

This is to certify that to the best of my knowledge, the intellectual content of this thesis is the product of my own work. I confirm that I have clearly referenced, in both the text and the bibliography, all sources used in the thesis. No content of the thesis has been used previously for other courses.

I confirm that I understand that my work may be electronically checked for plagiarism by the use of plagiarism detection software and stored on a third party's server for eventual future comparison.

Job Siegmann

# **ABSTRACT**

While the literature on civic virtue and its relation to the state is extensive, little to no work has been done on what justifies the development of civic virtue for the individual. This thesis will begin by arguing that civic virtue is not only compatible with an account of liberal neutrality, but that, referring to existing literature, liberal democracies require a measure of civic virtue to sustain itself. Asserting that the stare requires a level of civic virtue on behalf of its citizenry, the thesis will pose the question of what justifies developing civic virtue for the individual citizen. After first considering and rejecting two objections to justifying civic virtue in private terms categorically, the thesis considers a few variations of the argument that acquiring civic virtue is ultimately in the (enlightened) interest of the self, alongside an argument from reciprocity. The thesis will argue that none of these justifications ultimately succeed and concludes by arguing that civic virtue should instead be considered as an expression of general virtues and is justified accordingly. The thesis concludes by considering the implications of this claim for how we should see our role as citizens, and how we should see the role of the state in promoting civic virtue.

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

Special thanks to dr. Bruno Verbeek for his insights, supervision, and many interesting and fruitful discussions. I would also like to acknowledge the enormous body of work I have been able to rely on for this thesis. I am grateful to the various authors whose work has made this thesis possible, both recent and historic. Finally, I would like to acknowledge the Lord above, without whom I would not be here.

# **Table of Contents**

0. INTRODUCTION	8
1. CIVIC VIRTUE & LIBERAL DEMOCRACIES	10
1.1 THE LIBERAL NEED FOR CITIZENSHIP	10
1.2 CIVIC VIRTUE VS LIBERAL NEUTRALITY	11
1.3 A TYPOLOGY OF CIVIC VIRTUE	14
1.3.1 GALSTON ON CIVIC VIRTUE	14
1.3.2 DAGGER'S ALTERNATIVE	15
1.4 THREE CATEGORIES OF CIVIC VIRTUE	16
1.5 WHY BE CIVIC?	17
2. CIVIC AND PRIVATE VIRTUE AS RADICALLY DIFFERENT	18
2.1 DEFINING VIRTUE	18
2.2 POLITICS AS POWER STRUGGLE	18
2.3 PUBLIC AND PRIVATE VIRTUE	20
3. CIVIC VIRTUE AS SELF-INTEREST RIGHTLY UNDERSTOOD	23
3.1 CIVIC VIRTUE AS EXTERNAL INTEREST	23
3.1.1 COLLECTIVE BENEFIT & THE FREE-RIDER PROBLEM	23
3.1.2 INCENTIVIZED CIVIC VIRTUE	24
3.2 CIVIC VIRTUE AS DUTY OF FAIRNESS	25
3.3 CIVIC VIRTUE AS ENLIGHTENED SELF-INTEREST	26
3.3.1 THE EDUCATIVE ARGUMENT	27
3.3.2 THE INTEGRATIVE ARGUMENT	28
4. CIVIC VIRTUE AS GENERAL VIRTUE	30
4.1 THE BENEFITS OF GENERAL VIRTUE	30
4.2 TELEOLOGICAL CIVIC VIRTUE	30
4.3 CHARACTER-BASED CIVIC VIRTUE	31
4.4 IMPLICATIONS	32
4.4.1 CIVIC VIRTUE AND THE STATE	32
4.4.2 CIVIC VIRTUE AND THE INDIVIDUAL	33
5. CONCLUSION	35
6. BIBLIOGRAPHY	36

# 0. Introduction

In a February 24<sup>th</sup> article the Lexington columnist of *the Economist (The Economist* 2024) told the story of Wang Huning, a leading political theorists and ideology for the Chinese Communist Party, and his 1988 trip to the United States. Wang was both impressed and pessimistic when it came to American civil society. Though he admired the political culture, he ultimately felt that the decline of shared values would result in a spiritual crisis of "individualism, hedonism and democracy". Though the column ultimately rejects Wang's claims favoring tradition, collectivism and authoritarianism, the Lexington columnist does end with the recognition of "the corrosion of civic virtue that is letting the once and possibly future president [Donald Trump] tear so much to pieces."

This column is not the first lament of declining civic virtues. An argument could be made that civic virtues are indeed declining, expressed in the declining norms of public discourse (Krzyżanowski 2020), increased polarization (Abramowitz and Saunders 2008) and in declining norms against political violence (Samuelson 2022). Much philosophical work has been done on the need for civic virtue in maintaining a liberal democracy. Recognizing the public need for civic virtue, this thesis will turn to the perspective of the citizen. While civic virtue is of clear moral import for the public values and institutions we hold dear, how should we consider civic virtue in terms of our private life?

Much of political philosophy is concerned with what roles citizens should or should not play in society. How to improve citizen participation, what the duties are of both citizen and state, how we should arrange our institutions and how we should see individual freedoms. All these perspectives consider the citizen from the perspective from the state, but what about citizenship from the perspective of the individual? Most of us see ourselves as much more than merely a political entity – we have lives, values, make decisions on what to prioritize and within the framework of virtue ethics, many aim to grow in character, practice virtue and gain practical wisdom. How does civic virtue play into these considerations? Should civic virtue be the highest form of virtue to strive for, or is this optional based on how engaged we are with civil life? Even if we strive for a good life, why should we be concerned with the interests of the state? If I, as an individual, am committed to moral excellence, why should moral excellence include civic virtue? Not only is this justification question mostly neglected in modern discourse, but the way in which civic virtue is justified has serious implications for what we

can reasonably expect from citizens. Even more, what is in the interest of the state, might very well not be in the (moral) interest of the individual.

The first chapter will consider the role of civic virtue within a liberal democracy and will show the need for civic virtue in maintaining a liberal system. The chapter will conclude with a typology of civic virtue and explain in detail the problem of private justification of civic virtue. Chapter two will address the 'realist interpretation' of civic virtue, which says that civic and private life are so radically distinct in their context and character demands, categorically rejecting any private justification of civic virtues. Chapter three will examine civic virtue as "self-interest rightly understood" and concludes that though civic virtue might frequently end up being in one's own interest, enlightened self-interest ultimately fails as a justification. Chapter four will argue that civic virtues should ultimately be seen as expressions of general virtue in the context of civic life, and will conclude by looking at the implications of this claim for how we should understand civic virtue.

# 1. Civic Virtue & Liberal Democracies

Naively, civic virtue can be characterized as certain dispositions or attitudes that make one a good citizen or contribute to the public good in some way. This chapter considers how civic virtue is essential for the stability and functioning of liberal democracy and will consider how a specific conception of civic virtue is compatible with an account of liberal neutrality. The chapter will conclude with a typology of civic virtue.

### 1.1 The Liberal Need for Citizenship

The need for civic virtue in liberal democracy has been argued extensively, most famously by authors in the civic republican tradition. For William Galston, we need some concept of civic virtue to maintain what he sees as the purpose of liberalism. Galston explicitly defines civic virtues as "the virtues needed to sustain the liberal state" (Galston 1991, pg. 220). Richard Dagger, another civic republican, is similarly concerned with "virtues that are most directly civic and most clearly vital to republican liberalism", seeing civic virtue as similarly essentially to maintaining the public good of liberalism (Dagger 1997, pg. 196).

Why is civic virtue needed to maintain liberal democracy? Will Kymlicka argues that "Without cooperation and self-restraint in [areas of public concern], 'the ability of liberal societies to function successfully progressively diminishes'" (Kymlicka 2002, p. 285). This notion of the flourishing state requiring certain attitudes from the citizenry can be found in a number of historical authors. Rousseau claimed that "for all [the conditions of democracy] could not exist without [civic] virtue." (Rousseau 2011, p. 52). Similarly, Mill argues that "political machinery [...] has to be worked, by men, and even by ordinary men. It needs, not their simple acquiescence, but their active participation" (Mill 2010, p. 11). More recently, Pettit argued that "Laws [...] need to be supported by widespread civic virtue, by widespread civility—if they are to have any chance of being effective; the legal republic needs to become a civil reality." (Pettit 1999, 280), with even Rawls himself in later works conceded that "When these [civic] virtues are widespread in society and sustain its political conception of justice, they constitute a great public good.", and that they must be "constantly renewed by being reaffirmed and acted on in the present." (Rawls 2001, 118).

The need for civic virtue can be best understood in the role civic virtue plays in creating and sustaining civil society. Many have argued that the liberal state requires civil society in the

form of an active citizenry, which necessarily requires some measure of civic virtue on behalf of the people. While the need for civil society and civic virtue in general has been argued as early as Aristotle and Cicero, the most famous account for the need for a flourishing civil society can be found in Tocqueville's *Democracy in America*, which argues the essential role for civic participation and civil society in creating an effective state (Tocqueville 2002). A modern interpretation for the need for civic attitudes can be found in Robert Putnam's work, who emphasized the role of "social capital" in successful government. In analyzing disparities in effective government between northern and southern Italy, Putnam identifies the fundamental role of civil society, and by extension the role of civic virtue, in maintaining and promoting democratic institutions:

"Effective and responsive institutions depend, in the language of civic humanism, on republican virtues and practices. Tocqueville was right: Democratic government is strengthened, not weakened, when it faces a vigorous civil society." (Putnam, Leonardi, and Nonetti 1993, 182)

Both Putnam and Tocqueville in their own way recognize the need for civil society and civic virtue in the functioning of the liberal state. This, alongside the arguments by Kymlicka and the recent array of social science identifying the need for civic virtue (Cohen and Chaffee 2013; Scott 1971; Algan and Cahuc 2009), leads to the assertion that civic virtues are indeed necessary for civil society and thereby the proper functioning of liberal democracy.

### 1.2 Civic Virtue vs Liberal Neutrality

The problem with the previous assertion is that some might argue that liberalism is incompatible with a prescriptive notion of civic virtue, because of the liberal principle of state neutrality. Civic virtue, and 'good' citizenship more broadly, include a specific understanding of what makes a morally "good" citizen. If civic virtue is indeed necessary or desirable, then this implies a specific conception of the good life. And this is exactly the problem, for liberal neutrality fundamentally says that the state should remain neutral between different conceptions of the good life. This creates a conundrum: we have on the one hand a need for civic virtue, while on the other hand liberal neutrality does not permit specific conceptions of civic virtue as part of the good life.

In order to resolve this dilemma, let us first consider liberal neutrality. The debate on liberal neutrality largely focused on whether the state is in a position to define the good life, and act to encourage or discourage certain choices deemed incompatible (Kymlicka 1989). This idea of there being a concept of the good life, based not on general principles of government but specific moral ends, is what John Rawls calls "perfectionism". Rawls saw perfectionism as inherently incompatible with his version of liberalism, as he argued that the veil of ignorance necessarily cannot put special weights on specific conceptions of the good, as "the parties do not share a conception of the good by reference of which [distributive matters] can be evaluated" (Rawls 1971, p.328). For Rawls, it is not concepts of the good independently defined (perfectionist goods) that should make up our understanding of the public good, but rather "the principles that we would acknowledge to govern the background conditions" (Rawls 1971, p.560), under which each pursues their own goods. This returns us to the earlier dilemma. If we accept the need for liberal neutrality, how do we reconcile this with the fact that the best way to achieve and maintain liberal neutrality practically is through a perfectionist understanding of civic virtues?

There are two ways to resolve this. The first way, as put forth famously by Joseph Raz, is to formulate liberal neutrality in perfectionist terms. Raz argues that the liberal state can and should be perfectionist, in pursuit of the value of autonomy. This means that a good life is an autonomous life, and the government's role is to maximize autonomy. Though rejecting liberal neutrality in principle, this argument justifies a system of government resembling liberal neutrality in practice, justified in its pursuit of autonomy. This means that civic virtue needs to be justified in terms of autonomy: if the good life is an autonomous life, and civic virtue promotes autonomy either directly (supposing practicing civic virtue will result in more autonomy) or indirectly (in that civic virtue will sustain a form of government most able to maximize autonomy), then civic virtue is compatible with this conception of liberalism.

The problem here is that while autonomy is a great ideal to pursue publicly, it is unclear why a good life is necessarily an autonomous life. As argued by Sandel (1984), part of the good life is interpreting one's role in the community. While it is good that the state gives the individual autonomy in decisions of marriage, for example, marriage itself – part of what many consider a good life – essentially restricts autonomy in many ways. This problem holds of variations of this argument, as can be found in Galston's account, who sees liberalism as ultimately promoting the goods of individualism and diversity. These again are fine public goods to strive

for, but it is strange to define the good life exclusively in terms of living an individualistic and 'diverse' life.

All these accounts effectively aim to reformulate liberal neutrality in perfectionist terms, but in doing so they unnecessarily restrict themselves to very peculiar conceptions of the good life. Instead of resolving to such an argument, this thesis will accept the tension between liberal neutrality and the civic good. This thesis posits that liberal neutrality is a public good, necessary to govern interaction and allow citizens to find the good life, in line with Mill's account of freedom. This thesis sees individual freedom as an essential good not in itself, but because it is *necessary* to develop any kind of virtue. This is because virtue can only be developed when there is self-ownership. As Mill argued: "A person whose desires and impulses are his own—are the expression of his own nature, as it has been developed and modified by his own culture—is said to have a character. One whose desires and impulses are not his own, has no character, no more than a steam-engine has a character. "(Mill 1859, 56).

This means that there is a good life, defined in perfectionist terms, but the best way to find and achieve this good life is through the ability to choose the good life independent of state interference, hence requiring a practical concept of liberal neutrality. Though some might argue that even the concept of a public good is itself incompatible with liberal neutrality, this seems needlessly restrictive. Nagel, for example, argues that even Rawls himself, the strongest proponent of extensive liberal neutrality, implicitly appeals to specific conceptions of the public good: when considering Rawls's claim that the parties in the original position do not share a specific conception of the good, "Any hypothetical choice situation which requires agreement among the parties will have to impose strong restrictions on the grounds of choice, and these restrictions can be justified only in terms of a conception of the good." (Nagel 1973, p.226). Even Rawls himself later concedes that his principles of justice and liberal neutrality require certain public attitudes to maintain. "[the principles of justice] incorporate the ideal of citizens as free and equal persons into public life by way of the shared recognition of the principles of justice and their realization in the basic structure. "(Rawls 2001, 117). We can therefore conclude that, accepting this argument, civic virtue is compatible with liberal neutrality insofar civic virtue is justified in terms of promoting the public good, rather than as part of a specific conception of the good life.

This has two major implications. Firstly, if liberal neutrality is a quintessential public good, then civic attitudes or dispositions (civic virtues) on behalf of its citizens are an according public good, to be encouraged and facilitated by the state. The second implication is that since this justification of liberal neutrality is not based on a specific conception of the good life, but the *ability* to live a good life, this does not necessarily imply that the government is justified in enforcing particular conceptions of civic virtue. The question of facilitating and justifying civic virtue on behalf of citizens will fall to the remaining chapters of this thesis. For now, accepting the compatibility with liberalism and practical need for civic virtues, the question is what kind of civic virtues are necessary to maintain the liberal good. The following section will look at Dagger & Galston's typologies of civic virtue and will combine this with contemporary work on the role of civic attitudes to divide civic virtue into three distinct categories.

### 1.3 A typology of civic virtue

### 1.3.1 Galston on Civic Virtue

Galston defines civic virtue as those virtues or dispositions most effective in the pursuit of the public goods of individualism and diversity (Galston 1991, pg. 222), and so he categorizes civic virtues in the four ways in which they promote said goods. Firstly, there are 'general' civic virtues which are necessary for any political system. Galston mentions courage in battle, law-abidingness and loyalty as specific virtues. Next there are the economic virtues, or "virtues" of the liberal economy". There are some role-specific virtues (e.g., entrepreneurial virtue), and then there are generic economic virtues, namely work ethic, moderate delay of gratification and adaptability. Then there are the "virtues of liberal society", or social virtues (Kymlicka, 2002). Since Galston justifies civic virtues as part of a liberal perfectionist understanding, the specific elements of what he considers the liberal goods, diversity and individualism, require a specific kind civic virtue to maintain, namely the virtue of independence for individualism and the virtue of tolerance for diversity. The final type of civic virtue, which Galston defines as political virtues, are virtues practiced specifically in the public sphere. These are subdivided into three kinds, starting with virtues of citizenship: building on the general virtues, a liberal system requires the virtue of discerning candidates and respecting rights of fellow citizens. Secondly, there are the *virtues of leadership*: patience, forging common purpose, and narrowing the gap between popular preference and wise action (resisting temptations of populism). Lastly, there are general political virtues which apply to both leaders and citizens: The disposition to

engage in public discourse and narrowing the gap between social practice and public principles<sup>1</sup>.

While all four virtues contribute to a liberal democratic system, they differ in their role. A liberal democratic system seems to require two types of dispositions. Firstly, for the liberal democracy to flourish it needs a certain share of citizens to possess a measure of civic virtue. Citizens who obey the law (general virtue), respect their fellow citizen (social virtue) and be a productive member of society (economic virtue). Yet a liberal democratic system also requires *citizen participation*: to hold power accountable, be publicly reasonable, speak out against injustice et cetera – Galston's 'political virtue'. There is a clear distinction here between the first three civic virtues, practiced privately, and the publicly practiced political virtue. To see why this is significant, consider the fact that one can master the first three civic virtues to a point of excellence, yet never vote or engage in public discourse.

### 1.3.2 Dagger's Alternative

An alternative typology of civic virtues is offered by Dagger (1997), who argues that "The republican-liberal citizen is someone who respects individual rights, values autonomy, tolerates different opinions and beliefs, plays fair, cherishes civic memory, and takes an active part in the life of the community." (Dagger 1997, p. 196) Similarly to Galston, Dagger emphasizes civic virtues in social terms, and argues citizens should possess some kind of disposition towards the general goods of liberal society. Citing Tocqueville, Dagger has a view of civic society as a communal project of which one is an integral part: "private citizen" is an oxymoron, for citizenship is a public office that requires the citizen to act with the common good in mind." (Dagger 1997, p. 196). Where Galston saw political and social civic virtue as somewhat distinct, Dagger sees private and public virtue as one and the same. Living in society means being a citizen, which combined with his teleological account of civic virtue<sup>2</sup>, means that being a citizen necessarily implies one follows the "telos" or purpose of citizenship, possessing civic virtue. The thesis will return to this merging of citizen and person in chapter three and four, when considering civic virtue as self-interest properly understood.

<sup>1</sup> This refers to Galston's theory of social contradictions, further discussion of which falls outside the scope of this paper. For further reading, see Galston (1991) p. 22-37, 227

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Page 14: "As a role-related concept, virtue refers to the disposition to act in accordance with the standards and expectations that define the role or roles a person performs."

### 1.4 Three categories of civic virtue

This is the point where a broader typology of civic virtue might be useful. It seems that different things are meant by civic virtue, depending on the author. Considering civic virtue as the virtue to promote the public good, civic virtue can be divided into three kinds of civic virtue, corresponding with the three different ways in which certain attitudes can benefit the public good. Starting with civic virtue as those attitudes practiced in private which are nonetheless instrumental in facilitating the public good. Call this civic virtue as **citizenship virtue**. Citizenship virtue includes those attitudes or specific virtues that make up a traditional understanding of a 'good citizen'. Citizenship virtue includes those unremarkable virtues practiced daily by most people which are nonetheless essential for the public good. Examples of this are law-abidingness, entrepreneurship, reciprocity & tolerance (Faulks 2013). Perhaps the most broadly applicable civic virtue, this type of virtue is lacking when people speak of declining social norms or communal values. Conservatives might bring up lacking patriotism or social behavioral norms, where progressives might highlight gender stereotypes or discrimination in the labor market as the results of lacking citizenship virtue.

Secondly, both Dagger and Galston highlight the need for citizens to be involved in public life and public deliberation. Dagger argues a need for citizens to "grow into the community", adapting a "civic memory", while Galston argues for the need to publicly address social contradictions. This can be grouped under civic virtue as civic involvement in public life, call this civic virtue as civic engagement. Civic engagement is the attitude to be involved in civic life, to participate and be engaged. Examples of expressions of civic engagement are voting in elections, attending city council meetings on important matters, speaking out against injustice, or engaging in political discourse more generally, either on social media or with peers. (Skocpol and Fiorina 2004). Note that civic engagement as civic virtue is not the same as mere civic action, a distinction that will be expanded on in chapter three. This type of civic virtue is lacking when people speak of low election turnout, political apathy, or when people neglect to speak out against injustice.

Finally, though Galston does address civic engagement somewhat ambiguously in his virtue of 'narrowing the gap between social practice and public principles' (Galston 1991, p. 227), he is clearly concerned with what could be called public conduct: how to conduct oneself in the public or political realm, through virtues like transparency, leadership and public

reasonableness. Call this type of civic virtue **public virtue**: those dispositions or virtues necessary to govern interaction in the public sphere. Public virtue is what motivates the maintenance of democratic norms, respect for rule of law, respectful disagreement and tolerance for different views etc. (Freelon 2015). This type of civic virtue is lacking when people speak of degenerating public norms, inflammatory political speech, public prejudice or problems of integrity amongst politicians.

### 1.5 Why be civic?

This typology of civic virtue is useful in two ways. For one, it allows us to distinguish between the different ways civic virtue is used in modern public debate. Recall the opening column in *The Economist*: when the columnist is speaking of corroding civic virtue, he is clearly referring to public virtue, where he argues both Trump and his supporters lack a respect for democratic process, motivated in part through a lack of tolerance of opposing views. The columnist is not referring to civic engagement (there might be rather too much of that, recalling the events of January 6<sup>th</sup>, 2021), nor is he particularly concerned for a decline in private social norms associated with citizenship virtue (at least not in this context).

More importantly, this typology allows us to get at the heart of the issue of civic virtue. So far, this thesis has argued that a liberal democracy needs some level of civic virtue on behalf of its citizens, which are virtues expressed both publicly and privately. The problem is that for both Galston & Dagger, these virtues are justified in that they support their respective interpretation of the liberal good. But what justifies these virtues on behalf of the citizen? *If I, as an individual, am committed to moral excellence, why should moral excellence include civic virtue?* Chapter two will first address some objections to justifying civic virtue in private terms, specifically the objection that civic life is radically different from private life. Chapter three will set out a number of arguments for justifying civic virtue, focusing on civic virtue as being in the individual's self-interest 'rightly understood'. After concluding that these arguments ultimately fall short of justifying civic virtue in private moral terms, chapter four will conclude by arguing for civic virtue as a natural extension of general virtue. The thesis will conclude by examining the implications of this account for how the state and the individual should see civic virtue, respectively.

# 2. Civic and Private Virtue as Radically Different

### 2.1 Defining Virtue

When speaking of civic virtue, it is useful to define what virtue is. A more thorough discussion on the nature of virtue can be found in chapter four, for now it is sufficient to define virtue in broad terms. Virtues are character attributes, or dispositions, which are necessary for moral excellence. For example, honesty is understood to be a virtue when one decides to act honestly "because that would be honest", where being honest is sufficient justification for the action to be right. The issue is that there are many different virtues, and that in day-to-day life it is not always clear which virtue takes precedence, or which elements are relevant in pursue of virtue. This is why virtue requires a second principle: practical wisdom. Practical wisdom allows for discernment of relevant elements to know what virtue dictates in each situation, and it is typically obtained through experience (Hursthouse and Pettigrove 2023).

Children for example might be honest, but lacking experience and therefore practical wisdom, can be honest *to a fault*: they keep insulting people around them with their bluntness, and practical wisdom would show how they need to balance honesty with a concern for others, for example.

Virtue is distinct from moral action, in that virtue is a measure of moral character. Speaking the truth in a particular scenario is not a virtue in itself – being honest is - with speaking the truth being an expression of the virtue of honesty. Applying this to civic virtue, we can now see how civic virtue is essentially a matter of being a good citizen. This means that civic virtue is distinct from civic action or even civic duty, which are at best expressions of civic virtue. This highlights the pertinence of this thesis' research question: if civic virtue requires people to not just do what they are instructed, but to *care*, why should they?

### 2.2 Politics as Power Struggle

Before exploring how civic virtue could be privately justified, it is important to address some potential objections to the need or appropriateness to define civic virtue in private terms in the first place. Beginning with what this thesis will call the "realist interpretation" of civic virtue, this interpretation sees the civic realm as purely a power struggle, making civic virtue either non-existent or unnecessary. Elements of this can be found in the works of Machiavelli, who

saw public morality as necessarily different from private morality, particularly in the case of the ruler. Not only did he consider them as morally incommensurable contexts, but he also saw public life as needing certain private vices, such as ruthlessness and deceit (Hampshire 1978; Machiavelli, Skinner, and Price 2019). Where Machiavelli felt this only applied to the ruler (Pocock 2016), the realist interpretation extends this notion of public morality to citizens, and civic virtue more generally. The role of the individual in promoting the public good is in the measure of its political ends, with no moral boundaries on the means of procuring the public good (Maritain 1942). On this account, civic virtue are those traits most effective in achieving some worthwhile public end. If we see the public sphere as a fundamental struggle for power, realpolitik, then it is pointless to even speak of civic virtue, and it is rather it is a matter of political skill and effectiveness. If everything and everyone is involved with a struggle for power, then all that matters is the content of the political end, and one's ability to be effective in achieving this end, rather than the means. Any remaining sense of civic virtue would reduce to being strategic or effective in the pursuit of power, similar to the political virtu found in Machiavelli's works (Price 1973; Machiavelli, Skinner, and Price 2019). While this does beg the question of why people would even want to engage with civic life in the first place, it also means that without any civic virtue to speak of, there is nothing to require justification. All that is left is the question of what is a worthwhile public end, and what skills will be most effective in achieving this end.

There are two main problems with this objection. For one, reducing politics to a power struggle is extremely cynical. It asserts that politics *is* nothing but a power struggle, with the only normative evaluation being based on the political ends. This undermines some of the 'civic exemplars' of liberal history. Gandhi, for example, was adamant in emphasizing non-violence as an end in itself, not merely as an effective political tool. And when politicians are accused of lying, taking bribes, or otherwise acting without integrity, we feel it is the means they used to achieve power which condemn them, not their political ends. The fact that we condemn politicians who lie, are corrupt, and otherwise fail to display some level of public virtue, means that society intuitively *does* value civic virtue. Just because civic life can frequently be characterized as a power struggle, does not mean that all aspects of civic life can be reduced to a power struggle, nor does it mean that people should act in accordance. Martin Luther King jr. was definitely part of a power struggle, but reducing the civil rights movement to nothing more than a power struggle ignore important aspects of the movement, for one the genuine conviction that non-violence itself was an essential element of justice (King Jr 1992). Another

problem of reducing any civic virtue to achieving certain worthwhile ends is that a means-end view of civic life is not only counterintuitive, but also opens Pandora's box of extremist politics. This is because most any political actor believes their respective cause to be just, which would mean that without any ends-independent measure of civic virtue, almost any public conduct would be internally justified – so long as the goal remains worthwhile.

Even if we would accept this characterization of the civil realm as power struggle, however, the need for civic virtue remains, and with it the need for a private justification. Recall that under this interpretation civic virtue are those traits most effective in achieving some worthwhile public end. If we consider the liberal state to indeed be a worthwhile end, accepting the need for civic virtue in maintaining the liberal state, then developing civic virtue would still be the most effective way of achieving the worthwhile public end of a liberal state. Unless one does not consider a flourishing liberal democracy as a worthwhile public good, one would have to concede at least instrumental need for civic virtue, and with it the need for private justification. This means that even if the realist interpretation is right, and that politics is a power struggle between conflicting political ends, civic virtue is still needed, and the question of private justification still stands.

#### 2.3 Public and Private Virtue

A second objection to the need to justify civic virtue in private terms is to argue that because the public and private realms are radically different, it is impossible or inappropriate to justify civic virtue in private terms. Entering the civic realm demands certain civic virtues, meaning private life does not enter into it, making any need for private justification unnecessary. And since the need for civic virtue is justified in terms of the public good, there is no basis on which to even justify civic virtue in private terms. Private life might require certain virtues, and civic life requires others, with any overlap being coincidental.

In response, consider that the public and private realm are very much connected. It has become increasingly clear that humans do not exist in a vacuum – we cannot put on a 'civic hat' and suddenly shift our fundamental moral attitude. Civic life is very obviously interchanged with private life. Interacting with workplace acquaintances is a fundamental element of one's moral life, yet colleagues in a public context fulfil a public and personal role at the same time - political allies or even opponents might become friends. Getting along with fellow political

party members is good in a general sense (it is good to get along with people), but also in a civic sense, as doing so might create important civil connections. Indeed, some have argued that defining a public-private distinction is a conceptual impossibility in the first place (O'Sullivan 2009). If it is indeed a practically impossible to fully separate one's civic and personal life, then it is similarly impossible to fully separate personal and civic virtue.

Not only is it difficult to separate distinct realms of virtue practically, doing so is morally problematic. Possessing virtue is a character trait, linked to the self on a fundamental level. We cannot simply turn off character traits when desirable – doing so would reject part of the self, and they would cease to be a trait in the first place. Macintyre, for example, could in one sense be seen as aligning with the previous objection: he characterizes virtues as role-specific attitudes based on specific practice, suggesting that we can perhaps see civic virtue as nothing more than virtues internal to the practice of civic life. Yet on the contrary, Macintyre himself actually explicitly highlights the need for consistent moral character: "the liquidation of the self into a set of demarcated areas of role-playing allows no scope for the exercise of dispositions which could genuinely be accounted virtues in any sense remotely Aristotelian" (MacIntyre 2007, 205). This means that even if civic virtue is nothing more than virtue internal to citizenship, there needs to be some consistency of character. And this makes intuitive sense: if one is a cheat and liar in public, it seems unlikely for this same person to possess great honesty in private. And even if one managed, can we even speak about them possessing the virtue of honesty? Not only does moral excellence require some consistency, but moral consistency itself appears to be part of what could be considered virtuous. This is evident when we consider the alternative: intuitively we consider moral inconsistency a vice - we accuse someone who is kind to one and mean to another as 'two-faced', and someone who is honest to some but lies to others as duplicitous. Moral character then can be said to require moral consistency, of a kind incompatible with a sharp separation of the roles and virtues of citizen and person.

Finally, recall how civic virtue has so far been defined as promoting the public good of liberal democracy. Examining the three types of civic virtue shows the problems of distinguishing sharply between roles and virtues. Starting with civic virtue as public virtue, it could be argued that public virtue has nothing to do with private virtue. But this already seems intuitively wrong. As the last section showed, virtue flourishes when there is consistency in the practice of virtue. And though public virtue will undoubtedly make different demands than private

virtue, there is enough overlap to suggest that possessing public virtue requires at least some private virtue. As Aristotle argued, an essential element of virtue is practice, or habituation (Callard 2022; Aristotle 1955). Being honest and conscientious in public typically requires some level of private practice to develop or maintain such virtues.

The hard contrast between public and private realms becomes even more problematic when considering civic virtue as civic engagement, since civic engagement is precisely that virtue which bridges the gap between private and public in the individual. Civic engagement in part means taking that which one develops privately and putting it to public use, not merely stepping outside private life but expanding private elements into the public. Civic engagement might mean taking corporate experience and using it for the public good by taking a seat in the city council, or it could mean encouraging people in one's private context to go out to vote and engage with elections. Finally, when considering civic virtue as citizenship virtue the distinction between civic and private virtues disappears altogether. Paying taxes, for example, is essentially a private act – yet it is also undoubtedly a civic act, as it is the quintessential example of putting the public good above the private (assuming taxes are paid out of a civic attitude, not out of fear of punishment).

It is clear then that the public and private realms are in many ways connected. But even if they were not, and that our civic role requires drastically different virtues and justification, it still leaves the question of why individuals should take their civic role in the first place. The idea of civic virtue is a normative concept of good citizenship — so how can we reject the question of how civic virtue relates to the good life? Is not the ultimate goal of politics, and especially liberalism, to allow people to live a good life, however defined? And if we require certain virtues, be it civil, how can we not consider how civic virtue relates to the good life for people, as more than just citizens?

# 3. Civic Virtue as Self-interest Rightly Understood

The main argument for private justification of virtue is that it is in the individual's interest "rightly understood". This chapter considers a number of variations of the argument that says that developing civic virtue is itself in the interest of the enlightened self, starting with an account of civic virtue being in the individual's external self-interest, showing how this account quickly runs into problems. After considering an argument from reciprocity, this chapter will end by examining two variations of an argument that says civic virtue is in the internal or 'enlightened' interest, because of either the integrative or educative benefits of public life, concluding by arguing that none of these justifications ultimately hold.

#### 3.1 Civic virtue as external interest

For the purposes of the following arguments, it is useful to divide self-interest into two categories: internal and external interests (MacIntyre 2007, 190). External interests could be seen as traditional 'goods', ranging from material interests to social interests like social standing, good relations et cetera. Internal interests, on the other hand, are the interests of the 'deep self' – mental, emotional and for some spiritual<sup>3</sup> well-being, and developing virtue.

#### 3.1.1 Collective Benefit & the Free-rider Problem

Before looking at internal or "enlightened" self-interest, consider the argument that practicing civic virtue is in the rational, external self-interest of the individual. The first argument of this kind could be considered as the 'collective-benefit' argument. As Dagger argues: "[I]f people can see that their interests as individuals frequently coincide with the public interest, either in the short or the long term, then they will find it in their interest to act as responsible citizens who must occasionally make sacrifices in order to promote the common good." (Dagger 1997, p.100). If the public interest aligns with the private interest, and if civic virtue is in the public interest, then acting in accordance with civic virtue will ultimately result in private benefit as a share of the public benefit. To illustrate this point, consider the following scenario: there is a medium-sized town, without its own hospital. Though the town needs a public hospital, there

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> One example is in Gandhi's concept of Satyagraha (Singh 1997)

is no room in the municipal budget to construct one. A citizen initiative is setup to collect money, and after a few months enough donations were collected to begin construction.

It is clear how the town was benefitted by the donations as expressions of civic virtue. The contributors themselves also benefitted from their own act of civic virtue by contributing, in that they too now had convenient access to a hospital. The collective benefit argument says that this is how we should see civic virtue in general: by exercising civic virtue and participating in society we build society up – and the benefits of a flourishing society outweigh the cost of civic virtue, resulting in civic virtue being net beneficial to the individual.

The problem is that even if the private cost is lower than public benefit, the public benefit does not depend on *individual* contribution, but rather on collective contribution. This means that to maximize benefit, one should aim to receive the benefits of the state with minimal contribution. This is what is commonly referred to as the 'free-rider problem' in economics (Kim and Walker 1984). In the hospital scenario, as long as enough other people contribute, it is in the private benefit to not contribute to the public work yet still enjoy the same benefits of the hospital. Similarly, the benefits of a flourishing society are the result of collective acquisition on civic virtue, and therefore do not depend on individual contribution. This means that a reason beyond mere public interest is necessary to justify civic virtue.

#### 3.1.2 Incentivized Civic Virtue

In response, one could consider the traditional resolution to the free-rider problem, which is to coerce people into contributing, either directly or through incentives. One could accordingly argue that the role of the state is to incentivize civic virtue to the point where it would be in the individual's self-interest to practice. There is some intuitive appeal to this argument, since the most essential civic duties are typically enforced coercively, consider for example tax paying enforcement, or military draft in cases of war.

There are a number of problems with this argument however, starting with the fact that there is a significant difference between civic *duties* and civic *virtue*. Civic duties are activities required of citizens, like the examples mentioned. Civic virtue, on the other hand, is a character disposition – and while the state can incentivize certain civic activities, it is unclear how the state would succeed in incentivizing character attributes on behalf of its citizens. This is apparent even when looking only at state enforcement of civic duties: the tax authorities, for

example, do not nearly have enough capacity to deal with large-scale tax evasion, instead relying on sufficient civic virtue on behalf of most citizens to fulfil their civic role (Górecki and Letki 2021). Similarly, the government does not remotely have the capacity to deal with massive draft-dodging in the face of a military draft – it relies on a sufficient share of people to act with civic virtue to be able to enforce the mandate to the non-complying. Furthermore, many of the contributions of civic virtue are unable to be captured by incentive schemes in the first place. Take civic engagement, for example. The best the state can do is to either encourage civic participation by appealing to civic virtue, or to incentivize specific desired behavior, such as mandatory voting. Appealing to civic virtue would require a justification outside incentives, defeating the point of this argument. When it comes to enforced behavior, while incentivizing specific behavior might work, it would ultimately result in behavior without virtue. Consider for example the case of mandatory voting: though it is effective in getting people to vote, empirical research shows little to no effect of mandatory voting on civic engagement outside the act of voting itself (Carreras 2016; Sheppard 2015).

Finally, there is the problem of incentives "crowding out" civic virtue. Crowding theory says that external rewards replace and reduce individuals intrinsic motivations to act (Deci and Ryan 2013; Lepper and Greene 2015). This means that incentives, more than just being ineffective, might actively *reduce* civic virtue, especially when this incentive is coercive. As Frey (1997) argued, though the state must take care to punish exploitation, "care must be taken to design a system of laws fundamentally trusting citizens and politicians.", to avoid crowding out civic virtue. In order for citizens to adequately develop civic virtue, therefore, something else is needed besides mere incentives or enforcement.

### 3.2 Civic virtue as duty of fairness

In response to the objection to civic virtue as external self-interest, one could argue that the public benefit of civic virtue on behalf of citizens creates a duty for reciprocity – that the civic virtue practiced by others resulting in public benefit to the individual creates a duty for the individual to similarly develop civic virtue.

There are two problems with civic virtue as reciprocity. Firstly, justifying civic virtue in terms of reciprocity would mean that demand for civic virtue depends on the individual received benefits of society, result in some strange character demands. This is because public goods are

rarely distributed in proportion to respective contribution. Most modern welfare states employ systems of progressive taxation, where the rich contribute significantly more to public goods in both relative and absolute terms, while the worst-off in society receive net benefits through entitlements. If we follow the reciprocal justification, then demands of civic virtue would disproportionately apply to the unfortunates who depend on government assistance, since they benefited the most. As long as the spoils of a flourishing society are not distributed equally, then the same would apply for the moral need for civic virtue – something which is not only intuitively problematic, but it is unclear if this kind of civic virtue would be sufficient for maintaining the public goods as outlined in chapter one.

Even if we assume that public benefits result in a civic duty, it is hard to see what a duty to have civic virtue would look like, considering that civic virtue is a type of civic attitude, a character disposition. Reciprocity might bring a duty to vote, but it does not bring a duty to care about the election outcome. To highlight the distinction, consider the following scenario. There are two friends, Luca and Matilde. Luca needed help moving, so Matilde spends her free weekend helping her friend out. When months later Matilde needs help in return, she could reasonably appeal to a reciprocal duty – since Matilde helped Luca, Luca has duty to return the favor. The problem is that Luca begrudgingly helping Matilde out of duty can hardly be characterized as acting out of friendship virtue. The type of friendship virtue where helping out comes from certain character dispositions, and indeed the type of virtue which makes friendship meaningful, can therefore not truly be captured by mere reciprocity. True friendship is helping out of a disposition of friendship, of virtue, not obligation, and it is the dispositions which give the friendship meaning. Similarly, a liberal democracy needs more than civic duty or obligation – it needs civic virtue. What society requires in civic virtue can therefore not be captured by obligation derived from reciprocity.

# 3.3 Civic virtue as Enlightened Self-interest

Because of the many problems of justifying civic virtue in terms of rational self-interest, some authors have argued that we should instead see civic virtue as being in one's 'enlightened' or internal self-interest. The idea of enlightened self-interest originates from virtue ethics, specifically eudaemonist theories. These theories say that possessing *general* virtue is ultimately in the interest of the individual, as it is an essential part of human flourishing. The following two arguments in different ways argue for how *civic* virtue, specifically, is in the

internal self-interest. Beginning with the educative argument, which says that civic life brings internal benefit because of its essential educative function, a benefit that can only be received after sufficient acquisition of civic virtue. This is followed by the integrative argument, which says that the disposition of civic virtue itself allows one to be integrated in social life, which will bring both internal and external benefits.

#### 3.3.1 The Educative Argument

The first way in which participation of public life as result of civic virtue is in the enlightened self-interest is that civic life serves as a kind of moral education. In the words of Dagger, citing John Stuart Mill: If Mill is right, active citizenship performs an educative function by drawing out abilities in individuals that might otherwise remain untapped. Because these abilities will prove valuable in other aspects of the citizens' lives as well, the educative dimension of citizenship clearly promises to work to their benefit." (Dagger 1997, p.103) Assuming that developing general virtues is in the moral self-interest, and public life teaches people how to develop general virtues, then it is in the moral self-interest of the individual to develop sufficient civic virtue to participate in public life.

The question is why civic virtue is necessary to obtain these moral benefits. If public life is in the moral self-interest, then the civic virtue necessary to engage in public life, civic engagement, is accordingly in the internal interest of the self. But what about the other aspects of civic virtue, public and citizenship virtue? Take public virtue, for example. If one is civically engaged to the point where one participates in public life, the argument would imply that this is sufficient to obtain the moral educative benefits of public life. So why be concerned with specific conduct and attitudes *in* public life? Similarly, why be concerned with citizenship virtue? After all it does not provide the moral education that civic engagement does.

Now some might argue that public and citizenship virtue are the natural consequence of the public education following from civic participation, developing naturally once civically engaged. But this still does not explain why these would be good virtues to develop for the individual. More problematically, it is not at all clear that civic participation will result in the development of general virtues. Consider once again the realist interpretation of public life, discussed in chapter two. Though it seemed overly cynical to see public life as nothing more than a power struggle, it does appear true that much of civic life can be, and indeed occasionally

is, ruthless and cynical. If civic virtue is justified in that it will lead to moral education through civic participation, what about cases where civic life is not morally exemplary? There are conceivable scenarios where civic life is corrupt to a point where civic participation might actually pose a threat to one's moral character. Yet it is exactly in those cases where civic life is *lacking* virtue when civic virtue is most important - something this argument cannot account for.

Finally, even if moral education would be a sufficient justification, it is unclear why civic participation would be the best place for moral education. The educative argument might motivate some to participate in civil life, but others might be better off seeking their moral education elsewhere. The state requires specifically civic virtue for its flourishing, however, and all this argument does is argue why someone *could* develop civic virtue – it falls short in arguing for why one ultimately *should*, above other options, choose for civic participation and the developing of civic virtue.

### 3.3.2 The Integrative Argument

The final argument similarly sees civic virtue as contributing to self-interest rightly understood, but sees this as the interest of integrating into civil society. Dagger: "The activity of citizenship—the exchange of viewpoints, the give- and-take of debate—helps to provide this understanding. Indeed, the activity of citizenship performs an integrative function in two respects: first, it enables the individual to integrate the various roles he or she plays; second, it integrates individuals into the community." (Dagger 1997, p.101). This argument says that being well-integrated in a community is ultimately in one's own interest, both internal and external, and can only be reliably achieved by developing civic virtue. Recall how the last chapter argued for the moral need for consistency of character in different roles: civic virtue is argued to help us balance our different roles in life, and builds the kind of moral consistency essential to moral character, making civic virtue ultimately in our internal interest. Furthermore, civic virtue is argued to allow the individual to be fully integrated into the community, which Dagger argues is in the essential external interest of the self. Since it is the practice of civic virtue, not just civic participation, which is in the individual interest, this argument justifies not only civic participation and engagement, but also public and citizenship virtue (insofar they are necessary for proper integration).

The problem with civic integration as external interest is that the demands of civic virtue might sometimes contradict the integrative interests. Consider the civic virtue to speak up against injustice: what if the community is unjust? A proper display of civic virtue might very well result in losing the integrative benefits – the cases of whistleblowers being ostracized are too numerous to ignore. Secondly, though developing civic virtue undoubtedly has internal benefits in practicing virtue, it is unclear why this should justify civic virtue specifically. At best it would establish that civic virtue is a viable way to build moral character, but the same could be said for any other practice which requires virtue. This is particularly problematic when we consider the virtue of civic engagement: we want people to be civically engaged when it is important for the state, or the public good – not just when it is a convenient route for the individual to work on their moral character.

This bring us to the final problem of the self-interest-based justifications, namely that there are very clear intuitive cases where displays of civic virtue go against the interest of the self, even the enlightened interest. In virtue ethics, it is usual to speak of 'moral exemplars'. These are exemplars which the individual can use as a reference for how to develop their own virtue. Similarly, we can think of civic exemplars as exemplars of civic virtue, exemplary people who put the interest of the public over their own. But any justification of civic virtue as some kind of self-interest will always be limited to mutually beneficial scenarios. So how do we make sense of civic exemplars who sacrificed so much for the public good? Martin Luther King jr. advocated for civil rights up until his assassination, and Gandhi's numerous hunger strikes could hardly be seen as cases of even enlightened self-interest, at least in the context of civic virtue. Instead, the next chapter will argue that these displays of civic virtue can be best understood as displays of general virtue, applied civically, and that if anything it is the development of general virtues which is in the enlightened self-interest – not civic virtues.

# 4. Civic Virtue as General Virtue

The last chapter showed that while civic virtue might often be in the enlightened interest of the self, it ultimately falls short in justifying the type of civic virtue necessary for liberal democracies to flourish. This chapter will argue that civic virtue can be best understood as an expression of general virtue, and that civic virtue is justified insofar general virtue is justified.

#### 4.1 The Benefits of General Virtue

Within virtue ethics, general virtues are typically justified insofar they constitute what Aristotle called eudaemonia, or happiness as human flourishing. For Aristotle, possessing virtue is an essential part of what it means for humans to flourish. Within virtue ethics there are variations of Aristotle's account of eudaemonia, all essentially coming down to the argument that virtues are in the enlightened interest of the self, and if not always resulting in external goods they are an internal good themselves (or bring some internal good about). Macintyre, for example, defined virtues explicitly as those qualities which are necessary to obtain the essential goods internal to certain 'practices'. For Aristotle, on the other hand, it is the possession of virtues which constitute the good life, no matter the context in which they are practiced. Either way, though the question of what justifies virtues is a question that is far from settled, this thesis will assume that the general virtues are justified. The question of what justifies virtues essentially comes down to the question of why people should try to be good, or what the point is of trying to build moral character. This thesis departs from the presupposition that there is a private moral good – the point being to discover whether civic virtue constitutes such a private moral good. Leaving the question of moral nihilism and the point of morality to meta-ethicists, for now, intuition will have to suffice, as the scope of this thesis requires a line to be drawn somewhere. This thesis will simply restrict itself to the question that if there is a private moral good, whether civic virtue should be considered as one.

# 4.2 Teleological Civic Virtue

So how to place civic virtue in this context? First let us consider civic virtue under a teleological account, as put forth by Macintyre. Since virtues are defined and justified in their role in a certain practice, then civic virtue could be justified insofar civic virtue is necessary to obtain some essential good internal to the 'civic practice'. The problem here is twofold. Firstly, Macintyre has very specific conditions for what qualifies as a practice, and it is unclear to what

extent civic life is a particular practice requiring virtues to achieve the goods internal to the practice. Civic virtue is ultimately aimed at promoting the public good, goods outside the civic practice itself, whereas Macintyre's virtues are more pointed towards obtaining certain goods internal to the practice. But even if we grant that civic virtue will result in the goods internal to civic life, similar to the arguments of enlightened self-interest of the last chapter this cannot answer the question of why people should engage with civic practice in the first place. This point applies to Macintyre's more generally: since he sees virtues as internal to certain practices, it is unclear how we should prioritize practices, or which practices to participate in at all. Furthermore, consider the civic virtue of civic engagement: civic engagement is that virtue which motivates people to participate in civic life – but if this virtue is internal to civic life itself, how can we ever speak of people outside civic life ever developing this virtue?

#### 4.3 Character-based Civic Virtue

This is why this thesis concludes with what it believes to be the most viable justification, one based on traditional accounts of eudaemonia. For Aristotle,<sup>4</sup> it was not attributes related to specific practices that constituted virtue, but virtues were character dispositions independent of specific practice. Either a person is either honest or they are not – and when they are, they are honest across different practices. When it comes to civic virtue, this generalist approach would see civic virtue as nothing more than general virtue applied to a specific context. If one possesses the virtue of honesty, this should naturally result in public honesty, resulting in a measure of public virtue. But what about the civic virtue relating specifically to the role of citizen, such as citizenship virtue and civic engagement? This thesis proposes to see these virtues as expressions of the virtue of justice. Justice might require civic engagement, require being a tolerant citizen et cetera – though it sometimes might not. And since justice is a virtue, not an end, civic virtue means being civic in a just way, not doing whatever it takes to achieve an ideal of justice.

An example of someone who exemplified a similar conceptualization was Mahatma Gandhi, expressed through his political movement. The previous chapter concluded with the claim that Gandhi's hunger strikes could hardly be seen as in his own enlightened interest, but with this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Note that Aristotle's specific account of civic virtue is rather different than the argument put forth here, having more in common with traditional republican account as discussed in chapter three (Inamura 2015; Miller 2020; Aristotle 2013). The argument here limits to his account of general virtues.

new perspective this claim can now be interpreted differently. Gandhi was a big believer in what he called 'satyagraha', or the soul force of his independence movement. Gandhi saw non-violence and other civic virtues as in the interest of the self, the interest of the 'soul' – this is why he rejected the idea of non-violence as passive resistance, for example (Livingston 2018, 515; Gandhi 1999, 251–54). He felt that the suffragettes, in their utilization of non-violence as a mere political instrument, lost track of non-violence as a soul-transforming virtue. Even if one does not share Gandhi's specific philosophy of satyagraha, it is clear that Gandhi's actions were motivated and justified in terms of personal, general virtue, applied in a specific context. This thesis ultimately remains agnostic on what specifically justifies virtue and moral character for the individual. What it does argue is that when one aims to acquire and practice virtue, civic virtue should naturally follow. Not only is civic virtue a natural expression of general virtue, but this thesis also argues that in the end, living a good life is the best (and perhaps only viable) justification of developing civic virtue.

# 4.4 Implications

#### 4.4.1 Civic Virtue and the State

The first implication of this conclusion is what this means for the state. The state needs civic virtue, but if civic virtue is indeed an expression of general virtue, then promoting civic virtue would effectively mean promoting general virtue. Unfortunately, there are a number of problems with the state promoting general virtue. The discussion on liberal neutrality in chapter one concluded with the position that an understanding of virtue and specifically civic virtue, necessarily requires a practical sense of liberal neutrality. This means that paradoxically, the best way to promote general and thereby civic virtue, is to be neutral with respect to different conceptions of the good life. Mary Wollstonecraft, for example, argues that coercion is essentially antithetical to the ability to develop virtue, and that developing virtue both generally and civically *requires* political freedom (Coffee 2014; Barker-Benfield 1989; Wollstonecraft 2016). This is because, as classic civic virtue teaches, developing virtue requires practical wisdom – something which can only develop when people make life choices, experience and learn from their mistakes. Recall too the empirical work on crowding theory mentioned in the last chapter, which similarly argued for the need and efficacy of trusting the citizenry (Frey 1997).

Concluding that the best way to promote general virtue and thereby civic virtue is for the state to remain neutral, how should we respond to societal problems resulting from a lack of civic virtue? This is where there is an essential role for communities in developing virtue. Aristotle argued that to develop virtue, sometimes all we need is habituation - to act the part until the virtue becomes internalized. While the thesis so far has argued that the state is unable or unsuited to habituate its citizenry, communities can. As Macintyre argued, virtue is essentially tied to our social identity and certain practices (MacIntyre 2007, 205). This means that while the state cannot instill general virtue itself, it can potentially facilitate the kinds of practices that habituate virtue. This could range from religious communities to sport, to home-owners associations. And while communitarians argue that liberal neutrality cannot accommodate communities to a sufficient degree as to instill virtue, this thesis follows Kymlicka's position, who argued that under liberal neutrality, "people naturally form and join social relations and forums in which they come to understand and pursue the good. The state is not needed to provide that communal context and is likely to distort the normal processes of collective deliberations and cultural development". The best a state can do in order to promote civic virtue is therefore to recognize and facilitate existing communities and communal activities, while at the same time recognizing its own limited role and ability.

#### 4.4.2 Civic Virtue and the Individual

The second implication is for how individuals should understand their own civic role, and the demands of civic virtue. The fact that civic virtue is an extension of general virtue means that there can be no true civic virtue without general virtue. This means that political activism or other forms of civic engagement need to be consistent with private expressions of virtue. This also means that if one wants to improve their ability to act as a good citizen, they should start by improving their general moral character.

This same idea of civil action ultimately being an expression of general virtue can be found in Gandhi's work, specifically in his writings on Satyagraha. Gandhi saw Satyagraha, his concept of just political action, as the ultimate expression of virtue. When discussing how to learn from his political mentor and example Gopal Krishna Gokhale, Gandhi concluded that while most cannot follow in his political footsteps, "All of us, however, can cultivate virtues like fearlessness, truthfulness, fortitude, justice, straightforwardness, firmness of purpose, and dedicate them to the service of the nation. This is the religious way. This is what the mahavakya, that political life should be spiritualized, means." (Gandhi 1999, 145) For Gandhi, political

action and personal virtue were not only necessary companions, but he saw the development of virtue as a necessary precondition for successful and just political action.

How does the need for general virtue then relate to pursuits of justice? What if public justice occasionally requires citizens to neglect virtue? Though there are undoubtedly cases conceivable where what is in the public interest conflicts with the demands of virtue, consider Thoreau's response to justice as a matter of weighing benefits. Thoreau argues that when people see justice in terms of expediency, they do not account for "those cases to which the rule of expediency does not apply, in which a people, as well as an individual, must do justice, cost what it may." To conclude this chapter, and this thesis, consider these final words from Thoreau: "that we should be men first, and subjects afterward. […] The only obligation which I have a right to assume is to do at any time what I think right." (Thoreau 2017, 2,4).

# 5. Conclusion

This thesis started out by outlying how liberal democracies need civic virtue on behalf of its citizens. Before examining what justifies civic virtue for the individual, the first chapter argued how a concept of civic virtue can be compatible with the notion of liberal neutrality, ending with a typology of civic virtue as consisting of citizenship virtue, public virtue and civic engagement. The second chapter followed this by addressing two main objections to justifying civic virtue privately. The realist objection of public life as a power struggle was ultimately argued to not only be overly cynical of civic life, but also to ignore common intuitions we have about civil behavior. The second objection saw private and public life as radically distinct, making a private justification a conceptual impossibility. In response this thesis argued how such a stark public-private distinction is not only descriptively wrong, but also morally problematic, in that it would fail to account for the need for moral unity between different aspects of life. Chapter three then considered whether civic virtue could be justified in terms of (enlightened) self-interest, ultimately concluding that civic virtue might often benefit the self both externally and internally, but that it falls short as a justification, as it would justify civic virtue only in those cases where ultimately expedient for the interests of the individual. Chapter three also considered and discarded an argument from reciprocity, as it would not provide consistent duties, and contradict intuitive notions of civic virtue. Finally, the thesis concluded by arguing that the best way to justify civic virtue privately is to consider civic virtue as nothing more than an extension of general virtue, implying both strong limits to the state's ability to enforce or promote civic virtue, and a need for personal emphasis on developing general virtue when considering one's role as a citizen.

# 6. Bibliography

- Abramowitz, Alan I., and Kyle L. Saunders. 2008. "Is Polarization a Myth?" *The Journal of Politics* 70 (2): 542–55. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022381608080493.
- Algan, Yann, and Pierre Cahuc. 2009. "Civic Virtue and Labor Market Institutions." *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics* 1 (1): 111–45. https://doi.org/10.1257/mac.1.1.111.
- Aristotle. 1955. *The Ethics of Aristotle : The Nicomachean Ethics*. Revised edition. Harmondsworth: Penguin.
- ——. 2013. *Aristotle's "Politics": Second Edition*. Edited by Carnes Lord. Second edition. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Barker-Benfield, G. J. 1989. "Mary Wollstonecraft: Eighteenth-Century Commonwealthwoman." *Journal of the History of Ideas* 50 (1): 95–115. https://doi.org/10.2307/2709788.
- Callard, Agnes. 2022. "The Virtuous Spiral: Aristotle's Theory of Habituation." In *The Oxford Handbook of Moral Psychology*, edited by Manuel Vargas and John M. Doris, 0. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780198871712.013.2.
- Carreras, Miguel. 2016. "Compulsory Voting and Political Engagement (beyond the Ballot Box): A Multilevel Analysis." *Electoral Studies* 43 (September):158–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electstud.2016.04.005.
- Coffee, Alan M. S. J. 2014. "Freedom as Independence: Mary Wollstonecraft and the Grand Blessing of Life." *Hypatia* 29 (4): 908–24.
- Cohen, Alison K., and Benjamin W. Chaffee. 2013. "The Relationship between Adolescents' Civic Knowledge, Civic Attitude, and Civic Behavior and Their Self-Reported Future Likelihood of Voting." *Education, Citizenship and Social Justice* 8 (1): 43–57. https://doi.org/10.1177/1746197912456339.
- Dagger, Richard. 1997. Civic Virtues: Rights, Citizenship, and Republican Liberalism. Oxford Political Theory. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press.
- Deci, Edward L., and Richard M. Ryan. 2013. *Intrinsic Motivation and Self-Determination in Human Behavior*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Faulks, Keith. 2013. *Citizenship*. London: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315008608.
- Freelon, Deen. 2015. "Discourse Architecture, Ideology, and Democratic Norms in Online Political Discussion." *New Media & Society* 17 (5): 772–91. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444813513259.
- Frey, Bruno S. 1997. "A Constitution for Knaves Crowds out Civic Virtues." *The Economic Journal* 107 (443): 1043–53. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0297.1997.tb00006.x.
- Galston, William Arthur. 1991. *Liberal Purposes: Goods, Virtues, and Diversity in the Liberal State*. Cambridge University Press.
- Gandhi, Mahatma. 1999. *The Collected Works of Mahatma Gandhi (Electronic Book), Volume 15*. New Delhi, Publications Division Government of India. https://www.gandhiashramsevagram.org/gandhi-literature/collected-works-of-mahatma-gandhi-volume-1-to-98.php.
- Górecki, Maciej A., and Natalia Letki. 2021. "Social Norms Moderate the Effect of Tax System on Tax Evasion: Evidence from a Large-Scale Survey Experiment." *Journal of Business Ethics* 172 (4): 727–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-020-04502-8.

- Hampshire, Stuart, ed. 1978. *Public and Private Morality*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511625329.
- Hursthouse, Rosalind, and Glen Pettigrove. 2023. "Virtue Ethics." In *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*, edited by Edward N. Zalta and Uri Nodelman, Fall 2023. Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University. https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2023/entries/ethics-virtue/.
- Inamura, Kazutaka, ed. 2015. "Civic Virtue." In *Justice and Reciprocity in Aristotle's Political Philosophy*, 106–42. Cambridge Classical Studies. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781316275597.004.
- Kim, Oliver, and Mark Walker. 1984. "The Free Rider Problem: Experimental Evidence." *Public Choice* 43 (1): 3–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00137902.
- King Jr, Martin Luther. 1992. "Letter from Birmingham Jail." UC Davis L. Rev. 26:835.
- Krzyżanowski, Michał. 2020. "Normalization and the Discursive Construction of 'New' Norms and 'New' Normality: Discourse in the Paradoxes of Populism and Neoliberalism." *Social Semiotics* 30 (4): 431–48. https://doi.org/10.1080/10350330.2020.1766193.
- Kymlicka, Will. 1989. "Liberal Individualism and Liberal Neutrality." *Ethics* 99 (4): 883–905.
- ——. 2002. Contemporary Political Philosophy: An Introduction. Oxford University Press.
- Lepper, Mark R., and David Greene. 2015. *The Hidden Costs of Reward: New Perspectives on the Psychology of Human Motivation*. Psychology Press.
- Livingston, Alexander. 2018. "Fidelity to Truth: Gandhi and the Genealogy of Civil Disobedience." *Political Theory* 46 (4): 511–36. https://doi.org/10.1177/0090591717727275.
- Machiavelli, Niccolo, Quentin Skinner, and Russell Price. 2019. "Machiavelli: The Prince." Higher Education from Cambridge University Press. Cambridge University Press. January 3, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316536223.
- MacIntyre, Alasdair. 2007. *After Virtue: A Study in Moral Theory, Third Edition*. 3rd edition. Notre Dame, Ind: University of Notre Dame Press.
- Maritain, Jacques. 1942. "The End of Machiavellianism." *The Review of Politics* 4 (1): 1–33. Mill, John Stuart. 1859. "On Liberty John Stuart Mill."
- 2010. Considerations on Representative Government. Cambridge Library Collection
  British and Irish History, 19th Century. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511783128.
- Miller, Benjamin. 2020. "Aristotle on Citizenship and Civic Education: The Central Role of Political Participation." In *The Palgrave Handbook of Citizenship and Education*, edited by Andrew Peterson, Garth Stahl, and Hannah Soong, 17–33. Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-67828-3\_34.
- Nagel, Thomas. 1973. "Rawls on Justice." *The Philosophical Review* 82 (2): 220–34. https://doi.org/10.2307/2183770.
- O'Sullivan, Noël. 2009. "The Concepts of the Public, the Private and the Political in Contemporary Western Political Theory." *Critical Review of International Social and Political Philosophy* 12 (2): 145–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/13698230902892010.
- Pettit, Philip. 1999. *Republicanism: A Theory of Freedom and Government*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/0198296428.001.0001.
- Pocock, J.G.A. 2016. *The Machiavellian Moment: Florentine Political Thought and the Atlantic Republican Tradition*. Princeton University Press. https://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.leidenuniv.nl:2048/stable/j.ctt1bmzkdg.

- Price, Russell. 1973. "The Senses of Virtú in Machiavelli." *European Studies Review* 3 (4): 315–45. https://doi.org/10.1177/026569147300300401.
- Putnam, Robert D., Robert Leonardi, and Raffaella Y. Nonetti. 1993. *Making Democracy Work: Civic Traditions in Modern Italy*. Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt7s8r7.
- Rawls, John. 1971. "Atheory of Justice." Cambridge (Mass.).
- ——. 2001. *Justice as Fairness: A Restatement*. Harvard University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv31xf5v0.
- Rousseau, Jean Jacques. 2011. The Social Contract.
- Samuelson, Charles D. 2022. "Why Were the Police Attacked on January 6th? Emergent Norms, Focus Theory, and Invisible Expectations." *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice* 26 (3): 178–98. https://doi.org/10.1037/gdn0000183.
- Sandel, Michael J. 1984. "The Procedural Republic and the Unencumbered Self." https://www.jstor.org/stable/191382.
- Scott, John Finley. 1971. *Internalization of Norms;: A Sociological Theory of Moral Commitment*. First Edition. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Sheppard, Jill. 2015. "Compulsory Voting and Political Knowledge: Testing a 'Compelled Engagement' Hypothesis." *Electoral Studies* 40 (December):300–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electstud.2015.10.005.
- Singh, Nirmala. 1997. "A Note On-The Concept of Satyagraha." *Indian Philosophical Quarterly* 24:521–26.
- Skocpol, Theda, and Morris P. Fiorina. 2004. *Civic Engagement in American Democracy*. Rowman & Littlefield.
- The Economist. 2024. "The Flaws That China's Chief Ideologue Found in America," February 22, 2024. https://www.economist.com/united-states/2024/02/22/the-flaws-that-chinas-chief-ideologue-found-in-america.
- Thoreau, Henry David. 2017. Civil Disobedience. Lulu.com.
- Tocqueville, Alexis de. 2002. *Democracy in America*. Edited by Harvey C. Mansfield and Delba Winthrop. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press. https://press.uchicago.edu/ucp/books/book/chicago/D/bo3612682.html.
- Wollstonecraft, Mary. 2016. "55. Vindication of the Rights of Woman." In *Democracy, a Reader*, 297–306. Columbia University Press. https://doi.org/10.7312/blau17412-067.